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          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Good Afternoon and

          3  welcome to this hearing of the Consumer Affairs

          4  Committee.  I am Philip Reed, Chair of the

          5  Committee.  At this moment I am joined by my

          6  colleague Oliver Koppell from the Bronx.  I am sure

          7  others will file in.

          8                 Today we are going to continue

          9  discussions concerning some of the problems related

         10  or have resulted from internet cafes or cybercafes

         11  as they are also sometimes referred to.  These

         12  private businesses offer their customers high- speed

         13  internet access at a small fee and can be an

         14  educational tool for students and consumers who

         15  otherwise may be denied access to the web.

         16                 However, internet cafes have been the

         17  subject of increased media scrutiny and have

         18  recently gotten unfavorable attention.  Internet

         19  cafes have been perceived as part of the City's

         20  truancy problem as many minors spend their school

         21  hours in these establishments.  Additionally several

         22  violence act incidents have been attributed to

         23  youthful patrons who customarily frequent these

         24  cafes.

         25                 Quarterly the Committee will be
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          2  examining Intro. Bills 65 and 78.  These are

          3  initiatives that were introduced several months ago

          4  in order to address this.

          5                 If enacted, Intro. 65 would make it

          6  illegal for any person or business to operate as an

          7  internet cafe without first obtaining a license from

          8  the Department of Consumer Affairs. Licensing would

          9  enable the City to better monitor the operation of

         10  these establishments.

         11                 Further, any party that violates the

         12  provisions of Intro. 65 would be liable for a civil

         13  penalty of between one hundred fifty dollars and

         14  three- hundred dollars for the first violation and a

         15  penalty of between two- hundred fifty dollars and

         16  five hundred dollars for any subsequent violations.

         17                 Intro. 78 addresses truancy directly

         18  and may also reduce more troubling issues of

         19  violence involving some of the young people who

         20  patronize these cafes.  If enacted, this bill would

         21  prohibit internet cafes from allowing minors to

         22  patronize their businesses during the school hours

         23  of the public school district in which the internet

         24  cafe is located.  This restriction would not apply

         25  to minors who graduated from high school, completed
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          2  a high school equivalency program or out of school

          3  with permission and minors who are accompanied by a

          4  guardian.  Intro. 78 would provide civil penalties

          5  ranging from one hundred fifty to three hundred

          6  dollars for each violation.

          7                 This afternoon the Committee expects

          8  to hear from the Administration and possibly

          9  internet cafe owners, several of whom have been

         10  invited and had actually indicated their desire to

         11  testify.  At this time I would be happy to hear from

         12  the Administration.

         13                 MS. TOOLE: Good afternoon Chairman

         14  Reed and Members of the Consumer Affairs Committee.

         15  I am Pauline Toole, Assistant Commissioner for

         16  policy  at the Department of Consumer Affairs and I

         17  am offering the Administration's testimony today.

         18                 We thank you for this opportunity to

         19  comment on the bills before you.  Intro. 65 would

         20  define internet cafes, require cafes fitting the

         21  definition to be licensed and set penalties for

         22  violations of the licensing law.  Intro. 78 would

         23  define internet cafes and prohibit minors from

         24  entering such cafes during the school day.

         25                 In 2003, I testified on behalf of the
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          2  Department on a previous version of these bills.

          3  And in 2004, we met with Council staff to discuss

          4  alternate language that might achieve the goal of

          5  licensing internet cafes.  Intro. 65 does create a

          6  licensing scheme as had been discussed, but

          7  regrettably does not fully adopt our discussions.

          8                 The DCA would support licensing

          9  internet cafes if the licensing scheme were clear

         10  enough to enable our staff to effectively and

         11  efficiently administer and enforce the law.  We

         12  don't believe Intro. 65 is that law.

         13                 The definition that identifies the

         14  cafes required to be licensed is flawed.  The

         15  definition exempts public libraries and school

         16  facilities, which is good and identifies an internet

         17  cafe as "any privately owned and managed facility in

         18  which computers are rented or otherwise made

         19  available to members of the public for the primary

         20  purpose of connecting with the internet or world

         21  wide web."

         22                 We believe this definition is far too

         23  broad.  It would include the Kiokis copy shops, many

         24  coffee shops around the City and a variety of

         25  businesses that provide internet access for non-
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          2  gaming purposes.  Many travelers use such cafes to

          3  check their email and stay in touch with family and

          4  friends.  By casting a net this wide, we also

          5  believe that the definition runs afoul of the First

          6  Amendment.

          7                 Generally licensing is meant to

          8  address a systemic problem within an industry or to

          9  protect consumers from some consistent bad practice.

         10    However, we are not aware of any such rationale

         11  for licensing the large number of businesses that

         12  provide access to computers and the internet.

         13                 We would suggest a much more limited

         14  definition based on the problem we understand you

         15  are trying to address, the businesses where young

         16  people gather to play computer games. Instead of

         17  creating a new license to administer, we also

         18  suggest that these cafes be included in the existing

         19  law that requires amusement arcades to obtain

         20  licenses.

         21                 Our rationale is simple;  the cafes

         22  where people gather to play computer games are the

         23  early 21st century version of the old fashioned 20th

         24  century amusement arcades and billiard parlors, both

         25  of which the DCA licenses.  By updating the existing
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          2  definition to include the newer technology used, you

          3  will achieve your goal and the jurisdiction of the

          4  department, as settled in case law would continue.

          5                 We would be happy to work with you to

          6  achieve such a bill.  In that spirit, we believe

          7  that we have crafted a definition that is limited in

          8  scope and which won't have Constitutional problems.

          9  In the spirit of moving forward, here it is:

         10        "A gaming cafe is a premises wherein, for a

         11  fee charged directly or indirectly, a person is

         12  provided access to a computer or electronic device

         13  with game software installed by the owner or

         14  operator for the purpose of playing a game."

         15                 Currently, a place must have five

         16  amusement devices to require licensing as an

         17  amusement arcade.  We think that there should be a

         18  number to trigger the requirement, but do not have a

         19  firm view on what that number should be.

         20                 Another advantage of updating the

         21  existing law is that it prohibits arcades from

         22  operating within two hundred feet of a school;

         23  private, public, elementary or secondary.

         24                 Finally, the fee set for

         25  administering the arcade license is three- hundred
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          2  and forty dollars, a figure determined by a study

          3  conducted by DCA and OMB.  The fee in Intro. 65 is

          4  one hundred dollars, which doesn't cover the cost of

          5  administering the license.  As I said, the existing

          6  law has in place the requirements to address the

          7  safety, security operations and placement issues

          8  that would address the Council's objectives.

          9                 Now, let me turn to Intro. 78.  It

         10  uses the same definition as Intro. 65 and thus is

         11  susceptible to the same problems stated above.

         12  Prohibiting minors from entering internet cafes

         13  during school hours, except if the minor has

         14  graduated, completed their GED, is out of school

         15  permissibly, or is accompanied by a parent or

         16  guardian presenting an excessive burden on the

         17  operator.

         18                 Given the flexible schedules so many

         19  students follow, how would the operator know whether

         20  a student was permissibly out of school or had

         21  completed their GED?  What would constitute proof?

         22                 The clear purpose of this bill is to

         23  deter truancy. The Department does not, however,

         24  enforce the truancy laws.  We believe, based on

         25  discussions with the New York City Police Department
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          2  that the truancy provisions of the Education Law,

          3  which the NYPD enforces, adequately addresses the

          4  truancy issue.  As a consequence, we do not support

          5  Intro. 78 which essentially turns DCA inspectors

          6  into truancy officers.

          7                 I thank you for the opportunity to

          8  comment and if you have questions, I would try to

          9  answer them.  Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REED: I'm sorry, I'm

         11  trying to read something and take care of business.

         12  We also have been joined by Maria del Carmen Arroyo

         13  of the Bronx, our newest member.  Oliver?

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Thank you

         15  Chairman.  When we had the last hearing on this, I

         16  don't remember exactly when it was, there were a

         17  number of high- profile incidents around internet

         18  cafes, which I think prompted this.  I am just

         19  wondering whether the Department, or perhaps the

         20  police, who are represented here have any current

         21  information as to whether internet cafes are causing

         22  a problem or are centers of unruly behavior or what

         23  not.

         24                 CAPTAIN OLIVER: Right now, there is

         25  really no chronic problems cybercafes or internet
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          2  cafes.  There have been sporadic incidents at these

          3  locations, but nothing chronic that has occurred at

          4  these locations.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: And, what

          6  about the Department of Consumer Affairs, have you

          7  gotten many complaints about the internet cafes or

          8  cybercafes?

          9                 MS. TOOLE: No, we haven't had any

         10  complaints as far as I am aware of.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: None at all?

         12                 MS. TOOLE: None at all.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Do you know

         14  whether 311 has received complaints?

         15                 MS. TOOLE: Well, I don't know the

         16  answer to that, but if 311 received complaints that

         17  were then sent the Department of Consumer Affairs, I

         18  would know that and we haven't received them.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well, if

         20  someone was complaining about an internet cafe say,

         21  and they complained to 311 would they refer that to

         22  you, since they are not licensed right now?

         23                 MS. TOOLE: Well, probably not, but

         24  possibly.  It would depend on the nature of the

         25  complaint.  I will just quickly say, if the person
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          2  were complaining about noise, they may refer it to

          3  DEP.  If they were complaining about street activity

          4  or some violence they would obviously refer it to

          5  the police department. So I don't know if anyone

          6  would have referred it, but frequently when they go

          7  in and type the key wording would get cafes or

          8  amusement parks or amusement arcades, they might end

          9  up at us, but it is unlikely.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well let me

         11  say that I don't think that I would personally be in

         12  favor of regulating something that doesn't need

         13  regulation.  And since you have proposed, and I

         14  don't know whether this is just in reaction or you

         15  really believe it should be done, regulating these

         16  places as we regulated arcades, and that's a good

         17  suggestion if you think they should be regulated, I

         18  think you are well taken, your idea is good.  But, I

         19  am just wondering if we should do it at all.

         20                 Because just that fact that there

         21  were a few problems indicated and we don't have

         22  anybody here I guess from the Education Department,

         23  right? Do we?  No.  I mean I just would like to be

         24  persuaded that this is needed before we go ahead and

         25  do it. And, from what you say and what the police
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          2  say -- By the way, the police officer who spoke,

          3  could you identify yourself?

          4                 CAPTAIN OLIVER: I am Captain John

          5  Oliver, New York City Police Department, assigned to

          6  School Safety Division.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I see.  Well,

          8  maybe you're the one to answer this question.  Are

          9  these cybercafes viewed as an incentive to truancy

         10  by the Department of Education?

         11                 CAPTAIN OLIVER: There has been

         12  instances where we have found children inside these

         13  cybercafes who were required to be in school.  It's

         14  really not a chronic problem.  Usually, once the

         15  children are taken out and returned to school, they

         16  do not return to these cybercafes.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I see.  Well,

         18  I think I would like to know from the Department of

         19  Consumer Affairs before we vote on this, whether

         20  there have been many complaints.  And Mr. Chairman,

         21  my own view is that if there haven't been many

         22  complaints, then I'm not sure that we should burden

         23  these cafes with $350 licensing fee and the

         24  paperwork that goes along with it. If there are

         25  complaints fine.  That is my view sir.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you.  I think

          3  I understand too this overconcern.  I'm trying to

          4  understand but I'm not going to pick a fight today.

          5  That's the good news.

          6                 Did you want to testify, to say

          7  something?  Well, see the Sergeant- At- Arms over

          8  here.  If anybody wants to testify, that has come in

          9  since we started, you need to see the Sergeant- At

         10  Arms, sign a form and we'll let you speak.

         11                 I am not sure why to the extent that

         12  all the concerns that you have in here, most of

         13  which I would understand were not worked out with

         14  our legal counsel, but leave that as it may.  I

         15  think what I am hearing you say is that and I

         16  appreciate your pro- activeness in terms of the

         17  definition.

         18                 I was looking at this as the primary

         19  business being internet access.  So if you are using

         20  Kiokis and others as an example, that might be

         21  ancillary, so I think we ought to look at a number

         22  but we also might want to look at saying the primary

         23  purpose of the business is the access to the

         24  internet.

         25                 MS. TOOLE:  We think that this
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          2  actually creates a problem in that access to the

          3  internet we believe is probably sort of a protected

          4  activity, but gaming activity, which is what you

          5  want to capture, you could probably regulate without

          6  challenge. And so, that's why we put it in here.  No

          7  matter how the game was accessed, if you had the

          8  gaming software on the computer for the purpose of

          9  gaming then you know, when you had a certain number

         10  of them, you could qualify as a gaming cafe.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: And your

         12  concern about the otherwise is that we are

         13  infringing on somebody's First Amendment or

         14  something like that?

         15                 MS. TOOLE: Yes sir.  That and also

         16  the very broadness of it.

         17                 There is a laundromat in my

         18  neighborhood that has internet access and certainly

         19  you wouldn't want to license them as an internet

         20  cafe.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  There's a

         22  laundromat that sells beer, I think they have to

         23  have a license.

         24                 MS. TOOLE: There you go.  I know, but

         25  I'm not certain that there is a problem at those
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          2  laundromats.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Sure it is.

          4                 MS. TOOLE: Really.  Not in Brooklyn.

          5  I don't think that that's the source of the problem

          6  that the Council is trying to address.  I thought

          7  the Council was trying to address a perceived

          8  problem of youth congregating at cafes for the

          9  purpose of gaming.  And so what we tried to do is

         10  think- through a definition for that and the basis

         11  of that definition actually came from the

         12  discussions we had with staff last year and I think

         13  that since there has been a turnover in some of the

         14  staff at the Council that wasn't all reflected in

         15  the bill that you produced.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL. Fair enough.

         17  I don't think we have some fatal debate here on

         18  terminology.  I am sure we can work something out.

         19

         20                 The clear purpose of this bill is to

         21  deter truancy, DCA does not however enforce the

         22  truancy laws.  But we believe based on discussions

         23  with the NYPD that the truancy provisions of the

         24  education law, which they enforce and adequately

         25  addresses the truancy issue.
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          2                 You say you don't think this bill is

          3  needed in terms of deterring or addressing the issue

          4  of truancy?

          5                 MS. TOOLE: We don't believe so.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: So you think

          7  it's all right to just tell -- Are kids prohibited

          8  from going to arcades during school hours?

          9                 MS. TOOLE: No.  As Andy points out

         10  they are not prohibited because of anything in the

         11  arcade law.  They are truant if they are not in

         12  school where they belong.  So that's where it is in

         13  the education law of the state that if students are

         14  supposed to be in school that's where they are and

         15  I'll defer to the police department.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Is it Inspector

         17  Oliver?

         18                 CAPTAIN OLIVER: Captain.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Captain Oliver.

         20                 CAPTAIN OLIVER: What was your

         21  question?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Whether you felt

         23  that this would be useful as a tool in terms of

         24  truancy.  Seems to be that what we are doing is to

         25  put the responsibility, also enforcement on the

                                                            18

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  business owners.  In other words, if they know that

          3  they are not allowed to have underage people in

          4  their establishments during school hours, I think

          5  there is some assisteds to the fact that if there

          6  are kids there, the store knows that they are

          7  liable. Wouldn't that be helpful?

          8                 CAPTAIN OLIVER: I really have no

          9  comment based on the law.  Basically, right now with

         10  cyber cafe's anywhere in the City where --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REED: I'm sorry Captain.

         12  We're talking about incorporating this into the

         13  arcade laws.  Laws that govern arcades.  Are you

         14  having problems?  Do you find truant students

         15  hanging out in arcades?

         16                 CAPTAIN OLIVER: Occasionally we do.

         17  It's not really a chronic problem, but truancy

         18  basically is like the weather, like where during the

         19  winter months you will find nobody down in Coney

         20  Island or in outdoor spaces.  When the weather warms

         21  up like it is starting now, the arcades and beaches

         22  and other outdoor locations become a haven for

         23  truants to go down and that's where we spend our

         24  resources picking these children up and returning

         25  them back to school.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you.

          3                 Council Member Liu.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Thank you very

          5  much Mr. Chairman.  Let me apologize for my getting

          6  here tardy.  But I did want to be a part of this

          7  important Hearing and I appreciate the

          8  representatives of the police department and Deputy

          9  Commissioner Toole for joining us.

         10                 I want to thank Andy Eiler from the

         11  Consumer Affairs Department.  I want to thank you

         12  for working with my office and with the Committee

         13  Staff for quite some time now to put together some

         14  legislation that the Administration can be

         15  supportive of as well and address our need, in my

         16  opinion, do something about the internet cafes and

         17  the negative influences that they have been putting

         18  on our young people.

         19                 To address some of Council Member

         20  Koppell's questions and perhaps your questions as

         21  well, I will say, from the outset that the bill that

         22  I had introduced quite some time ago that would

         23  prohibit minor, children under the age of 18 from

         24  entering internet cafes during school hours was the

         25  result of constant complaints from one of my
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          2  principals, the school principals.

          3                 One of the school principals in

          4  Flushing had always complained that too many of his

          5  kids were in nearby internet cafes and when the

          6  principal approached some of the owners of those

          7  internet cafes, they simply did not want to take any

          8  responsibility and instead turned it on the

          9  principal, as well as the police department and so

         10  this is a bill that I had put in originally to

         11  counter that problem.  And I do believe that it is

         12  absolutely a problem.

         13                 It is even more of a problem than

         14  arcades have traditionally posed.  Arcades have,

         15  admittedly when I was a kid, arcades had a certain

         16  lure to them, but you can only work those buttons

         17  and joy sticks for so long before your hands become

         18  completely blistered and arthritic.  And so there

         19  was physically a time limit when before you just had

         20  to stop. You could maybe stay there for an hour or a

         21  couple of hours.

         22                 Today the sophistication of the games

         23  that are available over the internet are such that

         24  they are so addictive to people of all ages, but

         25  certainly to young people who belong in school, that
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          2  they get there at 9:00, 10:00 in the morning and

          3  they spend their entire day at these internet cafes.

          4                 And I guarantee you Captain, that if

          5  you send some of the officers to a couple of the

          6  internet cafes in my area, and I know of internet

          7  cafes in other areas in Brooklyn and Manhattan, as

          8  well, you will find kids who absolutely belong in

          9  schools.  You just don't have enough officers to

         10  patrol these internet cafes on a daily basis and I

         11  can understand that.  That's why my bill would put

         12  some of the responsibility on the owners and

         13  operators of these internet cafes.

         14                 Now, I understand that it's difficult

         15  to draw the fine lines with regards to first

         16  amendment issues of how do you establish that

         17  content is not research but it's actually gaming or

         18  vice versa.  Those are difficult issues to resolve.

         19  That's why it's taken quite a bit of time.  But I

         20  wouldn't go so far to say that the existing truancy

         21  laws are adequate to address the issues here because

         22  they clearly aren't.  The kids are in the internet

         23  cafes longer and longer, out of school more and more

         24  especially as these games become more and more

         25  sophisticated.
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          2                 You sit in one of these internet

          3  cafes for 10, 12 hours at a time.  You are gaming

          4  with people in London, in Hong Kong, all over the

          5  world as if they were sitting right next to you. And

          6  not only that, these games are not like the old

          7  arcade games that you know, you die three times

          8  that's it.  They go on and on and on, they are

          9  cumulative.  It's almost like a alternate reality.

         10                 My question, I was actually looking

         11  to perhaps answer some of the questions that had

         12  come up in the short time that I was here.  Thank

         13  you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you.  You

         15  have.  You can see that my colleague is passionate

         16  about this and is the one who brought it to our

         17  attention. So I am glad he has been able to

         18  articulate the concern in that neighborhood and I

         19  think he stated it extremely well.  If I weren't so

         20  fond of him I wouldn't josh with him.

         21                 I think we've heard what the

         22  Administration thinks about this.  I think that we

         23  are going to try to work with you to get some

         24  language acceptable from the Chair's perspective.  I

         25  don't see any reason not to put it in the "arcade"
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          2  section.  We may need to tease out the definition a

          3  little better.  This is something that I think the

          4  Council thinks is important as a tool and if that is

          5  what the Council thinks then that's probably what is

          6  going to happen.

          7                 We would like to have your support,

          8  but we'll dialogue about this.  We want to try to

          9  get this wrapped up rather quickly as in next week.

         10  We have a lot of other fish that we are trying to

         11  put on a line hook and catch it, fry and eat.  So I

         12  want to have this out of the way. So that your

         13  office would make yourself available we'd appreciate

         14  that.

         15                 MS. TOOLE:  We would love to and we

         16  would like to work out a bill that we all could

         17  agree on.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED: All right.  Thank

         19  you very much.

         20  Captain, could you -- Sandy, would you make sure

         21  that we have the Captain's information and title and

         22  all that we can make sure to touch base with his

         23  office before the final bill.  Again, thank you for

         24  coming.

         25                 Thomas Sanidas and Evan Galbraith.
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          2  Yes.  Please come and have a seat.  If there is

          3  anybody else, we are not going to be here much

          4  longer so if there is anybody else please let me

          5  know.  Yes, if you will give him a form to fill out

          6  at the table. You can sit there with them, fine.

          7  Sergeant, let's give him a form to fill out while he

          8  is sitting there, if you don't mind.  Thank you.

          9                 SERGEANT- AT- ARMS: Yes sir.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you.  Thomas,

         11  how do you pronounce your last name?  The light if

         12  it is off, the microphone is on.

         13                 MR. SANIDAS: Sanidas.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Please state your

         15  name and is this your business,  Astoria Internet?

         16                 MR. SANIDAS: Yes, that's right.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Tell us that and

         18  begin your testimony please.

         19                 MR. SANIDAS: I'd like to thank the

         20  Committee for the invitation.  My name is Tom

         21  Sanidas, I represent Astoria Internet in Astoria,

         22  Queens.  We just got into this business in February.

         23  I am concerned about any bills that would get

         24  passed.

         25                 I just want to state the difference
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          2  between an internet cafe that has gaming and

          3  services.  My internet cafe has no gaming whatsoever

          4  and stored on the computers as far as reality --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Your internet cafe

          6  has no gaming and what?

          7                 MR. SANIDAS: No gaming whatsoever

          8  installed. Whatever gaming is available is online as

          9  far as the poker and fairly innocent games as far as

         10  I'm concerned.  And the kids that do show up I just

         11  say I don't have gaming and they just walk away. So

         12  I never had an incidence where kids from school came

         13  and sat down and played a game.

         14                 Now, they all go across the street.

         15  There is another establishment where they do have

         16  the gaming and they just all go across the street.

         17  They come in flocks of five and ten. Once they see

         18  no gaming they just put on a sad face and just walk

         19  across the street.  So my business thrives on resume

         20  write- ups, services to people that don't have

         21  computers at home, e- Bay business.

         22                 My main concern is credit card fraud

         23  and pornography.  I don't know how to control the

         24  pornography that people look at on the computer.

         25  You just kind of spot it and you see it on the
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          2  screen blatantly and I just don't know if I have the

          3  right to tell them, you can't look at that.

          4                 Or, I got a call from Time Warner,

          5  who supplies my internet connection and they said

          6  that a bank contacted them and said that there was a

          7  fraudulently credit card purchase through my router.

          8    So those are my concerns.

          9                 As far as the gaming --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REED: There was a

         11  fraudulent credit card purchase through your

         12  business?

         13                 MR. SANIDAS:   Yes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Someone had used a

         15  credit card to sign on with you and that person did

         16  not own the card?  Is that what you are saying?

         17                 MR. SANIDAS: Oh, they didn't purchase

         18  their time on my computer with their card.  They did

         19  whatever purchase they did-

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Oh, on your

         21  computer --

         22                 MR. SANIDAS: -- Yes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Oh, I see.

         24                 MR. SANIDAS: But, they can't see the

         25  actual computer that they used it from.  They see my
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          2  router.  They can only see my router that IP

          3  address.  So I have 13 computers connected to that

          4  particular router so they just say that this

          5  individual with this credit card number went to this

          6  router and purchased something, whether it was

          7  airline tickets or e- bay or whatever.  So now that

          8  came back to me and I don't know how to control, or

          9  you know how to protect myself, as far as that.

         10                 I contacted a company called Watch

         11  Guard, where they make firewall equipment, where I

         12  can connect between my internet connection and my

         13  computers and there is no way to block out credit

         14  card purchases altogether, which would be a big

         15  inconvenience as far as my customers are concerned.

         16  I would do it though, just to protect myself.  And I

         17  can't do that.  How do we control something like

         18  that.  I think that's a major issue.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON REED: So as I understand

         20  it, you're not in favor of this legislation because

         21  you think that it would be punitive or would cause

         22  you to have to pay a fee where you are not offering

         23  services that are a part of what the problem is that

         24  we are trying to deal with?   Maybe I said that in a

         25  complicated way.
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          2                 MR. SANIDAS: No.  I don't mind

          3  legislation that helps.  I wouldn't mind a $300 fee,

          4  whatever it may be.  I just don't want something

          5  that would be more of a headache and doesn't really

          6  do anything in the outcome.  Because like I said, I

          7  control the fact that no kids come to my store by

          8  not having games.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REED: I understand.  I'm

         10  not much of a whiz, at least as my staff on a

         11  computer.  I couldn't put a game on there if my life

         12  depended on it.  But if I'm going to say that you

         13  have to have the game installed on the computer for

         14  them to play it they can't access the web and play a

         15  game unless it's installed. Is that right?

         16                 MR. SANIDAS:  If I personally install

         17  the program, I put the license on there.  Then if

         18  they come with their own disk and they install it

         19  behind my back, it's gone the next day because I go

         20  through all my computers and uninstall all games or

         21  whatever programs people want to download.  I have

         22  to maintain the computers or they just get bogged

         23  down.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REED: In the other areas

         25  you were talking about where I think you said the
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          2  bank, or the police notified you about this

          3  fraudulent credit card.

          4                 MR. SANIDAS: Actually Time Warner --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Time Warner.

          6                 MR. SANIDAS: -- My internet provider.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REED: And could you

          8  remember what space of time from when they called

          9  you from when this actually occurred. Was it the

         10  same day?

         11                 MR. SANIDAS: They did not mention

         12  when.  They gave me no details, they just said if

         13  the bank pursues further action they will let me

         14  know and they didn't tell me details at all. I

         15  wouldn't mind details.  I would like the day and the

         16  time and everything, but they failed to tell me.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REED:   So you would like

         18  us to find a way to make it easier for you to

         19  restrict or prohibit viewing pornography or pulling

         20  up pornography on the web at your store.

         21                 MR. SANIDAS: I would like to know

         22  what control and to what extent I can tell somebody,

         23  no you can't look at that, because it's offensive to

         24  the next person, or to myself or my wife, which we

         25  work together.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Yes.  Thank you.

          3                 MR. SANIDAS: Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Mr. Galbraith,

          5  thank you for coming.

          6                 MR. GALBRAITH: Thank you for having

          7  us.

          8                 I wrote my testimony out, if I could

          9  just read it, it's just a page.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Okay.  And if you

         11  give us a copy of it, we'll have it --

         12                 MR. GALBRAITH: I did.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED: -- Okay, great.

         14  You did.

         15                 MR. GALBRAITH: Thank you very much

         16  for letting us attend this Hearing on Internet

         17  Cafes.

         18                 My name is Evan Galbraith.  I am the

         19  owner of CYBERCAFE.  Founded in 1995, CYBERCAFE is

         20  New york's original Internet Cafe providing computer

         21  internet and printing services to locals and

         22  tourists in the Time Square area.  While we are also

         23  a cafe with a full menu, the majority of our

         24  business is the rental of computer time where

         25  customers may or may not use the Internet. Please
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          2  note that CYBERCAFE does not promote gaming at all

          3  and that most of our internet users are primarily

          4  emailing since they are tourists.  In addition, we

          5  have never had any harmful or unlawful incidents

          6  occur at our establishment over the last nine years

          7  of business.

          8                 While we understand the importance of

          9  the proposed Internet Cafe legislation, in

         10  particular its intention to prevent local minors

         11  from skipping school to play games and recognize

         12  that passed tragedies have been connected to an

         13  Internet Cafe, we do have several questions and

         14  comments about the specific details of Subchapter

         15  12.

         16                 Number one. Since tourists are a

         17  major part of our business with very different

         18  vacation schedules and many are in fact minors, we

         19  think the law should altogether exempt minors who

         20  are tourists.

         21                 Number two. On a practical note, how

         22  will Internet Cafe managers know whether a visiting

         23  minor is indeed attending the local public school on

         24  that particular vacation period?  Will the Internet

         25  Cafe manager be required to find out the public
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          2  school's vacation schedule and keep abreast of all

          3  its changes?

          4                 Number three.  Since the proposed

          5  definition of an Internet Cafe requires "the primary

          6  purpose of connecting with the Internet or world

          7  wide web", what if an establishment had computers

          8  but no internet access and promoted all sorts of

          9  gaming?  Wouldn't this be a major loophole?

         10                 We  believe that if the main concern

         11  is gaming, then the definition should focus its

         12  primary purpose on gaming as well. However, there is

         13  no mention of the word gaming at all in the law.

         14                 To sum up, tourists are an important

         15  part of the Internet Cafe business including minors

         16  far away from home and on vacation schedules that do

         17  not coincide with New York City's public schools.

         18  These minors do not play games and are only trying

         19  to email their friends and family.  If the law does

         20  not exempt tourist minors then small businesses

         21  could be hurt and we believe an inexpensive and

         22  valuable service to these tourist minors will be

         23  denied.

         24                 That's it.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Now Mr. Galbraith,
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          2  you testified, you were here with us before.

          3                 MR. GALBRAITH: Yes, I was sir.  Yes.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you for

          5  staying vigilant on this subject with us.  Is your

          6  testimony is suggesting that these minor who are

          7  visiting the City, come in your store unaccompanied

          8  by an adult?

          9                 MR. GALBRAITH: There are some.  Yes.

         10  There are a lot of tourists from foreign places who

         11  travel to New York and it's convenient for them to

         12  come to a place to email.  It's a lot less expensive

         13  than telephoning.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Yes, I understand.

         15  But I'm trying to understand these minors typically

         16  come with their parents or they don't.

         17                 MR. GALBRAITH: I would say some come

         18  with their parents and the older ones tend to come

         19  alone.  You know, they are 17, 18.  Under 18 is a

         20  minor.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED: I see. Okay.  I

         22  think you clearly understand the intent of the

         23  legislation.

         24                 MR. GALBRAITH: I think the intent is

         25  very good but I just think the way it is written is

                                                            34

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  not very effective.  I think if the problem is

          3  gaming, then the word gaming should be included in

          4  the legislation.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Your point is well

          6  taken and I am sure however we redefine this with

          7  the Administration, that's going to be a part of it.

          8  I don't think the Office of the Legislation would

          9  have a problem with that.

         10                 MR. GALBRAITH: And also tourists,

         11  because there are a lot of minors who are tourists,

         12  who are traveling here and they do need to stay in

         13  touch with friends and family, I think it's an

         14  important resource for them.  Now I understand that

         15  there are places that -- I suppose we are more of --

         16  we are the oldest internet cafe in the City and we

         17  are located on 49th.  There are four hotels on the

         18  block and two theaters.  Our client base is, you

         19  know, tends to be -- Our prices are higher than most

         20  other internet cafes.  We just don't have gaming

         21  there.  Nobody comes to game. So, you know what I

         22  mean, it's just not the place people go to do

         23  gaming.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Are you finding the

         25  same problems or do you have the same concerns that

                                                            35

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  Thomas indicated in terms of pornography and have

          3  you ever had the police tell you or other people

          4  tell you that there has been a crime perhaps?

          5                 MR. GALBRAITH: No.  We have had no

          6  problems at all in that regard.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REED: You don't have

          8  anyone reviewing pornography?

          9                 MR. GALBRAITH: It happens

         10  occasionally but what we do is just politely ask

         11  them not to do that and it is so rare it is just not

         12  a problem.  But the occasional event, when it

         13  occurs, we just politely go up and say, I'm sorry,

         14  but we don't allow that here.  I think we are

         15  entitled to do that.  And they don't mind, they just

         16  stop it and we never see them again.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REED: And your screens

         18  are separated so there is some privacy?

         19                 MR. GALBRAITH: No, all our screens

         20  are open.  The back of the screens face the wall, so

         21  everybody can see what is going on.  So, it's very

         22  open and as I said, I mean our cliental are tourists

         23  primarily, just people on that block within the four

         24  hotels.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REED: I understand.  Well
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          2  thank you both very much.  I think it's important to

          3  hear.  That's why we wanted to do this again from

          4  the business community and we are going to try to

          5  resolve the concerns.  I'm sorry, Council Member

          6  Liu.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: I appreciate the

          8  business owner's time, I know it's not easy for you

          9  to come to a Hearing like this, so, I do appreciate

         10  your time.

         11                 Mr. Galbraith, what would you say is

         12   -- how much of your customer base really are minor

         13  children?

         14                 MR. GALBRAITH: It's a small amount.

         15  But, nevertheless there are tourists who come.  I

         16  can't give you a percentage, I don't know what it

         17  is, but I would say at least every day there is

         18  someone, an international tourist who could be

         19  classified as a minor, who is on vacation.

         20  Different from the New York City vacation schedule

         21  and they are visiting us to email home primarily.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: And would you say

         23  that these are, you mentioned 17 or 18 year olds.  I

         24  mean the bill applies only to those who have not yet

         25  reached the age of 18.  Are you really talking about
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          2  a lot of kids under the age of 18 who are coming in

          3  and presumably on vacation in the middle of New York

          4  City without their parents?

          5                 MR. GALBRAITH: Their parents might be

          6  visiting a museum, their parents might be there with

          7  them.  There are back packers who travel who are

          8  young.  Their parents might be around, but they are

          9  not there with them that day.  And they are emailing

         10  friends, you know.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Right.  In the

         12  legislation it makes it very easy for an adult

         13  parent to give the permission to their children to

         14  be in the internet cafe.  I think it is a very

         15  simple standard and a very simple thing for an

         16  internet operator such as yourself to insist on,

         17  with a very small fraction of your cliental, that

         18  those kids who are on vacation in the middle of New

         19  York City are rich enough to use one of your

         20  establishments and it's a very fine establishment.

         21                 MR. GALBRAITH: Yes.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: I don't think

         23  it's unreasonable for you to simply ask them to get

         24  permission from their parents.

         25                 MR. GALBRAITH: And how do we define
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          2  permissibility?

          3  You mean something written?

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Well, the parents

          5  could either drop them off or they could write a

          6  note.  Something that basically says that the

          7  parents think it's okay presumably because they are

          8  not in school right now.

          9                 But the point here is that you seem

         10  to be opposing a piece of legislation that has a far

         11  greater impact.  There are other internet cafes in

         12  the entire City, whose clientele are predominately

         13  minor kids and are open during school hours.  So

         14  while your establishment would fall under the

         15  definition and we are still refining the definition

         16  but your establishment probably would fall under the

         17  definition.

         18                 It's not intended to cut down on your

         19  business and as you say you wouldn't have any kids

         20  who belong in school in your establishment during

         21  school hours.  So actually, I don't think it affects

         22  you very much, except that it gives you a minor

         23  inconvenience of somehow determining the occasional

         24  minor tourist that comes into an establishment that

         25  is either accompanied by a parent or has a very
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          2  simple note from their parent saying that it's okay

          3  for this minor child to be in your establishment. I

          4  just don't see that as a very onerous requirement.

          5                 It sounds to me that perhaps you

          6  might be concerned about once there is the beginning

          7  of legislation where it then leads.  And if that's

          8  the case then perhaps you can state that and we

          9  would understand that.  But right now it just seems

         10  that your testimony in the form of this letter it's

         11  just a little difficult to agree with.

         12                 The same applies to Thomas. You

         13  testified that sometimes you have groups of five

         14  kids coming in to presumably log on the internet.

         15  How old are these kids usually?

         16                 MR. SANIDAS: These kids are usually

         17  anywhere between 12 and 16.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Right.  In fact

         19  the principal that I spoke about earlier who was the

         20  catalyst to this legislation is not a high school

         21  principal.  He is a middle school principal. His

         22  kids are sixth grade to eighth grade and that is

         23  where he has seen the truancy.  These are not people

         24  who -- they are going to have the card, they are

         25  clearly minors and they clearly belong in school.
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          2                 And when would you say they groups of

          3  five kids come to your establishment?

          4                 MR. SANIDAS: Anywhere between eleven

          5  a.m. to two p.m.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: And isn't it

          7  clear that these kids belong in school?  I am very

          8  happy and I commend you for turning them away from

          9  your establishment.

         10                 MR. SANIDAS: Well the first thing, we

         11  have no gaming.  They just turn around.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Oh.  Well don't

         13  you think it's a problem that then they go across

         14  the street to the other internet cafe and then

         15  presumably they go in there and they game somewhere

         16  between eleven a.m. and two p.m. When they are up to

         17  16 years old? Isn't that a problem?

         18                 MR. SANIDAS: Sure.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Yes.

         20                 MR. SANIDAS: And I personally don't

         21  like it.  Even my part- timers are college students

         22  and I don't want them working if they have a class.

         23  So I will make up their shift if I have to. They

         24  have to be in school.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Thomas, I
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          2  congratulate you and anytime you want to open up

          3  another establishment in New York City, please let

          4  me know.  I would like to help cut the ribbon.

          5                 MR. SANIDAS: All right. Thank you.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Thank you Mr.

          7  Chair.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you both for

          9  being here.  We certainly want to take all of those

         10  concerns into consideration when we look at

         11  redrafting the bill.  Thank you very much.

         12                 We have one other person, quickly, we

         13  were trying to wrap up, but there is one other

         14  person that signed up to testify, if ever so

         15  briefly.  Han Parz.  Is it Parz or Park?

         16                 MR. PARK: Park.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Park.

         18                 Yes sir, if the light is off, the

         19  microphone is on. Please state your name for the

         20  record.

         21                 MR. PARK:  Han Park and I operate Web

         22  2 Zone, Inc., which is one of the largest internet

         23  cafe/gaming centers.

         24                 I wanted to address the Council

         25  because I think our establishment is going to be

                                                            42

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  more affected by this legislation than the previous

          3  owners that spoke.

          4                 About 20 percent of our business is

          5  related to our gaming center operations.  And 80

          6  percent of it is what the previous owner had

          7  addressed, which is the tourists and the people who

          8  are doing their resumes and such.  So to have us

          9  defined as an arcade, although it would be very

         10  challenging for us as an operator because we are not

         11  considered your typical arcade.

         12                 We are backed by investors that

         13  require stringent provisions on us about how we

         14  operate the gaming portion of our business.  It's a

         15  self- enforcing policy and we actually put it into

         16  procedure as well as worked with different

         17  organizations to create these policies.  And that's

         18  how we deal with the truancy issues and working with

         19  the local police precinct to enforce these policies.

         20                 We acquire during our operations that

         21  anytime that's Monday through Friday, before two

         22  o'clock, if minors show up our staff is required to

         23  first ask their names, their ages, their home

         24  numbers, as well as what school they go to.  We have

         25  all the schools provided on a directory and we call

                                                            43

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  them.  Brian is my operating manager and he

          3  primarily handles this issue and he trains the staff

          4  for this.

          5                 In addition, we do have, as one

          6  person mentioned, that we have tourists that come in

          7  that are minors that are here on stay with their

          8  families and such or visiting that do come in during

          9  the school season that play, but we do call their

         10  parents or their guardians to get their approval.

         11  We know that we're very rare occasion on this

         12  because we do know of a number of gaming centers

         13  that do not do this self- policing policy.

         14                 Our concern is we are in favor of any

         15  legislation that helps the cause.  But at the same

         16  time, we do not want to see this legislation as a

         17  part of defining what our business is that may

         18  restrict how we operate.  And that being that with

         19  only 20 percent of our business being the gaming

         20  portion of these self enforcing policies, we don't

         21  want to be clearly defined or attached to an arcade

         22  because we are not an arcade center.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON REED: So if in fact that

         24  we were to have some legislation, you would prefer

         25  to see in the Administrative Code technical
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          2  language, where the laws are, a separate section for

          3  internet cafes and not have it included in the

          4  arcade rules.

          5                 MR. PARK: Yes. Right.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Okay.  How much

          7  does it cost, again, I am so unfamiliar with this,

          8  but it sounds like this is a fairly lucrative

          9  business --

         10                 MR. PARK: Sure.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REED: -- But do you

         12  charge by the hour for these games?

         13                 MR. PARK: We do two methods of

         14  payment.  One is we charge our hourly rate for our

         15  gamers that come in.  We usually charge about five

         16  to six dollars an hour.  Ours is actually a little

         17  bit pricier than most other internet cafes, which I

         18  think Council Member Liu is probably familiar with.

         19                 We also do these special events and

         20  tournaments where they pay a one- time participation

         21  fee that can go up to fifty dollars.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Your not doing this

         23  during school hours.  Don't tell him that anyway.

         24                 MR. PARK: No.  Again we are very,

         25  very aggressive about enforcing these policies.  In
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          2  fact we have been recognized by the media when these

          3  issues came up of how we distinguish ourselves away

          4  from the other gaming centers.  We in fact put in

          5  additional pricing rates, which favor kids to come

          6  in after two o'clock, after their school hours,

          7  where we charge half for a specific amount of time.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON REED: And that makes your

          9  place really popular?

         10                 MR. PARK: Very popular.  Especially

         11  during those hours.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REED: So if there was a

         13  provision in this that exempted people that were

         14  tourists, is a clearly way to define that. That

         15  would be all right?  If you said you understand what

         16  we are trying to capture here --

         17                 MR. PARK: Right.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED: -- And your support

         19  of that.  If we were able to find some way,

         20  obviously you are very aggressive. I mean, how many

         21  of these kids disappear when you start making all

         22  these phone calls.

         23                 MR. PARK: Oh, instantly.  We also

         24  work with the local truancy officer at precinct nine

         25  and we scare them a little bit.  We call the truancy
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          2  officer to come and pick them up and take them to

          3  school and after you don't seem them before school

          4  again.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Well John would

          6  like you to go out there and give a lecture to the

          7  cyberspace cafes in his neighborhood on how to do

          8  that.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: They are in my

         10  neighborhood.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Oh, I thought they

         12  were downtown.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: But there are

         14  good apples and there bad apples.

         15                 MR. PARK: And we don't want to be

         16  with the bad apples because we take a proactive

         17  approach.  Again, my concern is that we are in favor

         18  of legislation that helps the cause, but we don't

         19  want to be associated or be attached to being

         20  considered an arcade when only 20 percent of our

         21  business is related to this.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REED: What is the other

         23  80 percent?

         24                 MR. PARK: Similar to the two previous

         25  gentlemen. It's all about internet access, email,
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          2  tourists, as well as business applications.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you.  And

          4  Brian is your name Brian.  Do you have anything to

          5  add to this in terms of you being the top cop there

          6  in the shop.

          7                 BRIAN: Well basically it's self-

          8  enforcing.  We have calendar dates set up within the

          9  facility where our staff is fully aware of when

         10  school is out and when school is in session.

         11  Occasionally, we ran it for since the beginning, and

         12  any kids know from now on that during school hours

         13  they had better be in school, because if they come

         14  to our facility, you know, we will call the truant

         15  officer and we will not service them in any way.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Yes.  Council

         17  Member Liu.

         18                 I just wanted to also point out we

         19  have been joined by Council Member Barron from

         20  Brooklyn.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Thank you Mr.

         22  Chairman.  I appreciate these two gentlemen for

         23  joining us in today's hearing. There are definitely

         24  cyber cafes, internet cafes who are conscientious.

         25  And we know that for a fact.  There are many in
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          2  Flushing who are conscientious.  The problem is

          3  there are many internet cafes who don't really, who

          4  have no policy or even if they have a stated policy

          5  it's just a piece of paper taped to the door and it

          6  doesn't go anything beyond that.

          7                 So I appreciate, not only your coming

          8  here today, but also for you being conscientious

          9  about making sure that kids aren't in your

         10  establishments during school hours.  But none- the

         11  less, based on your testimony, it still says that

         12  this legislation is necessary.

         13                 Your establishment turns these kids

         14  away.  And that's good.  There are still

         15  unfortunately many establishments that do not turn

         16  kids away.  Your establishment I'm not intimately

         17  familiar with your business, but just from what I

         18  have observed, even from the outside and

         19  occasionally going inside, I would venture to guess

         20  that more than 20 percent of your revenue is from

         21  gaming activities, but I am not in a position to

         22  question that.

         23                 What I would say to you is that your

         24  hourly rates are also higher than any other

         25  establishments and that's because you've made a real
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          2  name for yourselves.  But there are so many

          3  establishments that are not charging six or twelve

          4  dollars an hour, they are charging one dollar an

          5  hour.  Those are the places where kids congregate

          6  at.  Those are the bad apples that we are trying to

          7  get at through this legislation because they have

          8  shown themselves not to be willing to cooperate in

          9  the absence of this legislation.

         10                 So we hope that you can stand with us

         11  to push for this kind of legislation.  Your

         12  sensitivity about being classified arcades I can

         13  appreciate and I think that we are trying to work

         14  things out with the Department of Consumer Affairs.

         15  But as far as the truancy aspect, the truancy

         16  problem in internet cafes, I think that this is an

         17  issue that we can agree on and I hope that you will

         18  stand with us in trying to rectify that problem.

         19  Thank you Mr. Chair.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you sir.  We

         21  do want to close this, but it is my understanding

         22  Mr. Park, the concern you have is that you think

         23  there is a negativity to be thought of as in arcade.

         24    Is that is what you are trying to avoid?

         25                 MR. PARK: There are a lot of business
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          2  restrictions because if you would be classified as

          3  an arcade.  We are moving beyond just New York, we

          4  are currently looking to open in other locations and

          5  we don't want to be defined as an arcade when we

          6  move into different territories.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Well, I'm not sure

          8  that this Administration would define you as an

          9  arcade.  You would fall just under that section of

         10  the law.  It doesn't require you to call yourself an

         11  arcade.

         12                 MR. PARK: But it's how people

         13  interpret the legislation, besides the people here

         14  at the Council.  When we applied to different cities

         15  of about how we open our business, the first

         16  question they will always ask, because we have a

         17  gaming component, is are you an arcade.  Well then,

         18  if we define ourselves as an arcade, we have to do a

         19  lot more paperwork.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Did you say that

         21  you wouldn't feel that you could answer the

         22  question, no.  Do you get asked if you are licensed

         23  in the City of New York or does those cities require

         24  a license.

         25                 MR. PARK: No --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED: All of your

          3  businesses are here in the City at the moment.

          4                 MR. PARK: -- No they do not.  The

          5  question they ask us, are you an arcade and we say

          6  no, we have a component of gaming but we are not an

          7  arcade center.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON REED: I understand.  All

          9  right.  Thank you very much.  Seeing no one else

         10  here to testify on this subject, I appreciate my

         11  colleagues time attention to this matter and we are

         12  going to see if we can't craft some legislation

         13  affirmatively with the Department of Consumer

         14  Affairs.  Thank you.  This Hearing is adjourned.

         15                 (Hearing adjourned 2:15 p.m.)
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